No. 94222-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JESSICA SIMPSON,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

LINDA GIPSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JESSICA SIMPSON 547 Crockett Lake Drive Coupeville, WA 98239 Appellant, Pro Se

A. Identity of Petitioners

Jessica Simpson, the Plaintiff below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, designated in Part B of this petition.

B. Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order which denied Appellant's request for a continuance of a motion for summary judgment, and instead granted default summary judgment on Defendant's unopposed motion. *Simpson v. Gipson*, No. 75029-1-I, at 1-3 (Jan. 17, 2017).

A copy of the decision, filed January 17, 2017, is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-5.

C. Issues Presented for Review

1. Whether it is an abuse of discretion to deny a mentally disabled and indigent Plaintiff a brief CR 56(f) continuance because the failure to do so is a violation of her Constitutional rights to Due Process and Equal Protection?

2. Whether a trial court abuses its discretion when it fails to consider a person's limitations from disability and indigence when exercising judicial discretion considering a CR 56(f) continuance?

D. Statement of the Case

Plaintiff-Appellant Ms. Simpson is an indigent woman with autism who was a patient at a hospital where Defendant-Respondent Dr. Gipson was employed in 2014. Ms. Simpson alleged that Dr. Gipson choked her, and filed a lawsuit against the hospital as Dr. Gipson's employer. That lawsuit was dismissed on December 14, 2015. As an indigent, mentally disabled, unrepresented litigant Ms. Simpson, rather than appealing that dismissal, mistakenly filed a subsequent lawsuit within 30 days against Dr. Gipson individually on January 11, 2016.

Defendant promptly filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on January 25, 2016 on the basis of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel. That MSJ was noted for February 22, 2016. Counsel for Ms. Simpson was retained on February 18, 2016, immediately filed a Motion for Continuance, and at the hearing on February 22, 2016 advised the Court that he needed a 90-day continuance to "prepare for this case, and perhaps either amend the Complaint or whatever is necessary to respond to the summary judgment motion." *Simpson v. Gipson*, No. 75029-1-I, at 3 (Jan. 17, 2017).

The trial court denied the continuance, stating that it had been given "no reason for continuing this case other than there may be something, somewhere somehow." *Id.* Thus, granting basically a default order on an unopposed motion for summary judgment, foreclosing Plaintiff from exercising her basic due process rights of notice and a reasonable opportunity to develop her response to the MSJ, from accessing justice via the judicial motion hearing process itself, and denying her equal protection of the laws as a disabled person.

Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed because Plaintiff did not articulate what specific discovery would be obtained if the continuance was granted, nor how any evidence would raise a genuine issue of material fact that the case was not barred by *res judicata* and/or collateral estoppel. Essentially, the Court used the existence of the *res judicata*/collateral estoppel argument itself to deny the request for time to develop argument and evidence against the *res judicata*/collateral estoppel argument. Thus again foreclosing Plaintiff from exercising her constitutional rights to due process, equal protection, and access to justice.

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

1. Overview

By denying Ms. Simpson's timely and reasonable request for a continuance, both the trial and appellate courts abused their discretion when failing to consider her disability and its effect on her ability to navigate and comply with procedural rules and obtain counsel. Ms. Simpson is also indigent – combining lack of resources, disability-related communication

issues, and disability-related social skill impairments results in compounded barriers to Ms. Simpson's fundamental right to access to justice. Whether judges must consider a person's disabilities when exercising judicial discretion in administering trial court cases is a significant question of law under the 5th Amendment Due Process Clause of the U.S. Constitution; Article 1, Section 3 of the WA Constitution; the Equal Protection Clause of the 14th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and Article 1, Section 12 of the Washington Constitution.

Review should be granted because this case involves "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States." RAP 13.4(b)(3). Review should also be granted because whether courts must consider disabilities when exercising their broad powers of judicial discretion in the administration of their cases is a matter of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. The denial of Due Process and Equal Protection rights to a mentally disabled indigent litigant involves a significant question of law under both the Constitutions of the State of Washington and the United States.

It is error as a matter of law to ignore a disabled person's constitutional rights when denying a continuance. There is a constitutional basis for a continuance to allow counsel to prepare and potentially amend

the Complaint. The trial court instead required counsel to articulate what discovery was needed, before being the reasonable opportunity to determine what discovery and legal theories may exist.

"Due process of law is [process which], following the forms of law, is appropriate to the case and just to the parties affected. It must be pursued in the ordinary mode prescribed by law; it must be adapted to the end to be attained; and whenever necessary to the protection of the parties, it must give them an opportunity to be heard respecting the justice of the judgment sought. Any legal proceeding enforced by public authority, whether sanctioned by age or custom or newly devised in the discretion of the legislative power, which regards and preserves these principles of liberty and justice, must be held to be due process of law." *Hagar v. Reclamation Dist.*, 111 U.S. 701, 708 (1884), *Accord, Hurtado v. California*, 110 U.S. 516, 537 (1884).

Due process *must* be"...appropriate to the case and just to the parties affected...it must be adapted...whenever necessary to the protection of the parties..." *Id.* In the case at hand, Ms. Simpson clearly did not receive due process because the Court did not adapt its decision to account for Ms. Simpson's particular limitations in obtaining counsel. Had it considered her disability, the Court would have made the very reasonable accommodation of a brief continuance to allow her counsel to become familiar with the case, prepare a proper response to the Motion for Summary Judgment, and/or even amend the pleadings such that the Defendant's argument regarding *res judicata* and collateral estoppel would be rendered ineffective.

As a disabled individual, Ms. Simpson has been denied due process of law and equal protection of the law; because of her disability, she needed some minor accommodation from the Court (in this case, a brief continuance) and the denial of that accommodation was a violation of her constitutional rights.

3. Whether judicial discretion requires consideration of disabilityrelated limitations when administering trial court cases is a matter of substantial public interest.

This Court should accept review because whether the trial courts must consider a person's disability when exercising judicial discretion, is a matter of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. CONCLUSION

The trial court's abuse of discretion in failing to grant the continuance created several compounded issues. As mentioned above, her counsel could have amended the complaint to defeat the arguments made in Defendant's MSJ, or he may have elected to submit a late Notice of Appeal of the 12/14/15 decision. Although the MSJ was decided more than 30 days after the date of the judgment, the complaint forming the basis of the second lawsuit was filed a full three days prior to the deadline to file the Notice of Appeal. Had her newly retained counsel been allowed time to review the case, he may have realized that the "new" case may have been more properly framed as an appeal. RAP 18.8(b) allows for the extension of time

to file a Notice of Appeal in order to prevent a "gross miscarriage of justice." It is possible that, in this case with a disabled litigant, that that standard would have been deemed met.

The Petition for Review should be granted, and the decisions of the Court of Appeals and the trial court should be reversed. Judgment should be entered as a matter of law for Ms. Simpson, and her attorney fees and costs incurred throughout this appeal should be awarded.