FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/30/2017 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 94222-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JESSICA SIMPSON,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

LINDA GIPSON, PhD., RN

Defendant-Respondent.

Answer by Respondent to Petitioner's:

- 1) Motion for Extension of Time to File Petition for Review; and
 - 2) Petition for Discretionary Review

Eric L. Freise, WSBA No. 7126 Freise & Ferguson PLLC 19109 36th Ave. W., Suite 204 Lynnwood, WA 98036 Counsel for Respondent Linda Gipson, Ph.D., R.N.

2. Tables

Cases

Hagar v Reclamation Dist. No. 108, 111 U.S. 701, 708 4 S.Ct. 663, 28 L.Ed. 569 (1884)14-15

3. Identity of Petitioner and Respondent

Petitioner is Jessica Simpson, who was the plaintiff in the trial court and the petitioner in the Court of Appeals and in the Supreme Court.

Respondent is Linda Gipson, PhD, RN, who was the defendant in the trial court and the respondent in the Court of Appeals and in the Supreme Court.

4. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision.

On January 17, 2017, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, Court of Appeals cause number 75029-1.

On February 7, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied a motion for reconsideration that was filed by counsel for petitioner.

5. Relief Sought / Issues Presented for Review

Denial of petitioner's Motion for Extension of Time to File Petition for Review—Should a motion for extension of time for filing a petition for discretionary review be granted when there has been no showing of extraordinary circumstances and when the denial of that motion would actually effect justice, not cause a "gross miscarriage of justice?" (RAP 18.8)

Denial of petitioner's Petition for Review—Should a Petition for Discretionary Review be granted when (1) the petition for discretionary review raises a new argument that was not presented and adequately

developed at the trial court; (2) the petition for discretionary review is not supported by even one citation to applicable authority; (3) the decision of the Court of Appeals is solidly supported by the well-settled law of this state; and (4) the petition does not meet any of the criteria of RAP 13.4 (b)?

6. Statement of the Case

This appeal arises first from the trail court's denial of a motion to continue the hearing of a properly noted motion for summary judgment, and, second, from the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court.

The motion for continuance was served four days before the scheduled MSJ and noted for hearing at the same time. It was authored and on the pleading paper of an attorney who appeared in the case for plaintiff-petitioner. The plaintiff-petitioner's moving papers for the motion for continuance made absolutely no reference to any alleged disability or financial hardship. (See appendix 1). During oral argument there was no mention of any alleged disability, although there was one statement that she was "destitute." See appendix 2. Plaintiff-petitioner's lawyer did not even come close to providing the trial court with any fact, citation of authority or legal argument that with more time would create a material issue of fact. That type of information was not provided either in the written motion or during oral argument. In fact, no such information could be provided, because the motion was based on the plaintiff's very own complaints. No

such information was provided to the Court of Appeals and no such information has been provided to the Supreme Court.

The motion for continuance was denied.

The summary judgment motion was then granted, dismissing the plaintiff-petitioner's complaint with prejudice.

A subsequent motion for reconsideration was denied.

Petitioner, represented by the same counsel, then appealed the denial of the motion for continuance to the Court of Appeals, but did not appeal the denial of the motion for reconsideration. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court on January 17, 2017.

On February 7, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied a motion for reconsideration that was filed by counsel for petitioner.

Therefore, per RAP 13.4 (a), a petition for discretionary review was due on Thursday, March 9, 2017.

If [a motion to reconsider all or part of the Court of Appeals decision is timely made], the petition for review **must** be filed within 30 days after an order is filed denying a timely motion for reconsideration

(emphasis added).

Petitioner's counsel withdrew on Thursday, February 23, 2017.

Instead of filing a timely Petition for Discretionary Review, plaintiff-petitioner filed a Motion for Extension of Time to File Petition for

Review on March 6, 2017, three days before the petition was due. That document was obviously prepared by an attorney.

On April 10, 2017, yet another attorney appeared for Petitioner.

That attorney withdrew on April 26, 2017, but obviously prepared the Petition for Discretionary Review that was filed on that same date.

Plaintiff-petitioner's lawsuit against defendant-respondent was the second lawsuit filed by plaintiff-petitioner for the same injuries arising out of the same incident.

During the first lawsuit plaintiff-petitioner had two different sets of attorneys. The first prepared the complaint, which was filed on September 26, 2014. That firm continued to represent petitioner until it withdrew on September 15, 2015. In that first lawsuit plaintiff-petitioner sued the alleged tortfeasor's employer, a hospital, alleging that the tortfeasor, the Chief Nursing Officer of the defendant employer-hospital, injured the plaintiff-petitioner while the tortfeasor-nurse was acting in the course and scope of her employment. That lawsuit was dismissed with prejudice on a summary judgment motion on December 14, 2015. Petitioner was represented by counsel at the hearing on the motion for summary judgment. Petitioner did not appeal that dismissal.

Instead, she filed a second lawsuit, *pro se*, this time against the alleged tortfeasor-nurse, making virtually identical allegations. The

defendant nurse filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing that the second lawsuit was barred by *res judicata*. The factual bases for the MSJ were the plaintiff-petitioner's own complaints in the two lawsuits and the unappealed summary judgment order. The very well established and widely recognized rule of law is that if one sues a principal or an agent for actions performed in the course and scope of the agent's work, but loses that lawsuit, then one cannot sue the other in a second lawsuit arising out of the same incident.

As noted above, four days before the MSJ hearing new lawyers appeared for petitioner and filed a written motion for continuance. At the hearing on the motions for summary judgment and continuance the court listened to the arguments and expressed on the record a very rational basis for denying the motion to continue. The motion for summary judgment was granted and a follow up motion for reconsideration of the denial of the continuance motion was denied. Even then the plaintiff did not provide any fact, citation of authority or legal argument that could create an issue of material fact.

Although petitioner Simpson repeatedly states that she was "strangled," by Dr. Gipson in a hospital room with several people present, is no one else says that.

The truths about this case are: 1) there is no merit to Ms. Simpson's lawsuit; and 2) Ms. Simpson has been unrepresented at times because her case has no merit, not because she allegedly is poor or disabled.

The underlying facts are as follows:

On May 13, 2013, defendant (respondent) Linda Gipson, PhD, RN was employed as the Chief Nursing Officer of Whidbey General Hospital (the true legal name of which is Whidbey Island Public Hospital District No. 1 dba Whidbey General Hospital and Clinics, but for purposes of this answer will be referred to as "Whidbey General Hospital," or "WGH"). CP 42; 325-329.

Island County Superior Court had ordered that Plaintiff Jessica Simpson be placed in involuntary treatment because she was a danger to herself. Island County authorities obtained her admission to Whidbey General Hospital until she could be placed at an appropriate mental health facility. This was difficult, because Ms. Simpson is not welcome at most of the appropriate facilities, so she remained at WGH until near the time of her release.

During the day of May 13, 2013, the last day of the hold, Ms. Simpson was aggressive and abusive. She assaulted a nurse in the morning. At about 1:30 p.m. another "Code Gray" was called when she was tearing up her room, yelling and screaming obscenities, and being non-cooperative.

She needed to be placed in four point restraints and to have medication administered to calm her. A "Code Gray" was called to deal with this emergency.

Dr. Gipson heard this "Code Gray" and went to assist, because she thought that the nurse who had been assaulted in the morning was still in the ER. Ms. Simpson resisted and threatened staff who were trying to care for her.

Chief Nursing Officer Gipson is a person of excellent experience, skill, ability and quality. The declaration that was submitted by her in support of the summary judgment in first lawsuit, *Simpson v WGH*, is attached to this brief as appendix 3. There the court can see for itself her remarkable qualifications and what actually happened with Ms. Simpson on March 13, 2013. In short, Dr. Simpson assisted in caring for Ms. Simpson during the Code Gray. Ms. Simpson, among other things, was threating the nurses and was positioned such that she could have carried out those threats. In the process of caring for plaintiff Simpson and in order to help redirect her attention from her biting targets (the nurses) and to make it easier to get Ms. Simpson's left hand restrained so that the nursing staff could inject an anti-anxiety medication, Dr. Gipson put one hand on Ms. Simpson's shoulder to bring her back forward and she placed the soft part of her other hand on the hard part of Ms. Simpson's chin. Dr. Gipson did not touch Ms.

Simpson's neck and did not "strangle" her. Later that day Ms. Simpson was examined by a medical doctor and no sign of injury was found. See appendix 4.

For some unknown reason the Island County Prosecuting Attorney, on July 2, 2014, filed a single criminal charge against Dr. Gipson in Island County District Court, Assault 4th Degree, RCW 9A.36.041. CP 13-14; 198.

The criminal case was tried to a jury for nine days between April 2 and April 10, 2015. Twenty-seven witnesses, including experts testified, including Ms. Simpson, Dr. Gipson and emergency medicine expert Nathan Schlicher, MD, J.D. The jury returned a verdict of "not guilty." Immediately thereafter the jury was instructed on RCW 9A.16.110 and asked to determine, by a preponderance of the evidence, if the force exerted by Dr. Gipson was lawful. After further deliberation, the jury returned a special verdict, finding by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Gipson had used lawful force in the interaction with Ms. Simpson. See Appendix 5. The Court subsequently issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in which it ordered the State to pay Dr. Gipson's attorney's fees and costs.

7. Argument

- (a) Motion for Extension of Time to File Petition for Review RAP 18.8 controls motions for extension of time.
- (b) Restriction on Extension of Time. The appellate court will only in extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice extend the time with which a party must file... a notice for discretionary review of a decision of the Court of Appeals....

(emphasis added).

Here plaintiff-petitioner has offered no extraordinary circumstances. She is a *pro se* litigant who has had four sets of lawyers, but who now claims that due to finances and emotional difficulties is incapable of complying with the Rules of Appellate procedure. However, from the volume of emails with which she inundates court and counsel, it is apparent that she is very able to communicate.

Nor has she provided the court with any citation of authority to support that she should be provided additional time.

Finally, the only way to effect justice to this case, once and for all, is to put an end to this case.

Dr. Gipson has had to live through a criminal prosecution. She was acquitted. But most pertinent to this case, the jury made a special finding of fact, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the force she exercised was lawful.

Dr. Gipson, although not a named defendant, then had to endure the first civil lawsuit, wherein her employer was sued for acts she allegedly performed in the course and scope of her employment. That case was dismissed for a number of reasons, one of which was that plaintiff-petitioner had no expert witness to testify that Dr. Gipson's care fell below the standard of care.

Then Dr. Gipson has had to endure yet another civil lawsuit, this time as the named defendant—with the allegations of the complaint and causes of action, insofar as the relate to her, being identical to the complaint in the first civil lawsuit. The trial court made a very reasonable decision on an issue that was addressed to her discretion, expressed a rational basis for her decision and was well within settled law. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

The only way for there to be a gross miscarriage of justice would be to grant plaintiff-petitioner's motion for an extension of time.

(b) Petition for Discretionary Review

RAP 13.4 (b) controls when a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court.

- **(b)** Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:
- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4 (b).

Plaintiff-petitioner has not met any of these criteria.

She is arguing that her alleged status as poor and allegedly "disabled" raises to "a significant question of law" under the Washington or US Constitutions, or that it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

At the outset, however, appendices 1 (motion for continuance) and 2 (verbatim report of the proceedings) show that the alleged "barriers to Ms. Simpson's fundamental right to access to justice" were not even presented to the trial court as part of the motion for continuance, other than a single mention during oral argument that she was "destitute."

Normally, a party may not raise on appeal an issue not raised or adequately developed at the trial level. But RAP 2.5 (a) (3) allows the appellate court to review claimed error raised for the first time on review that constitutes "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." As is shown in *State v WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d 595, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999), this is

a very limited exception. In that case the Court declined to review an untimely and insufficiently developed claim of error that a \$500,000 penalty imposed under state consumer protection statutes violated the excessive fines clause of Eighth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

Because RAP 2.5(a)(3) is an exception to the general rule that parties cannot raise new arguments on appeal, we construe the exception narrowly by requiring the asserted error to be (1) manifest and (2) " 'truly of constitutional magnitude'." State v. McFarland, 127 Wash.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) (quoting State v. Scott, 110 Wash.2d 682, 688, 757 P.2d 492 (1988)). RAP 2.5(a)(3) was not designed to allow parties "a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can 'identify a constitutional issue not litigated below." Scott, 110 Wash.2d at 687, 757 P.2d 492 (quoting State v. Valladares, 31 Wash.App. 63, 76, 639 P.2d 813 (1982), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 99 Wash.2d 663, 664 P.2d 508 (1983)). If the record from the trial court is insufficient to determine the merits of the constitutional claim, then the claimed error is not manifest and review is not warranted. McFarland, 127 Wash.2d at 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (citing State v. Rilev, 121 Wash.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993)). Cf. State v. Contreras. 92 Wash.App. 307, 311-14, 966 P.2d 915 (1998).

McFarland held an error is manifest if it results in actual prejudice to the defendant. An equally correct interpretation of manifest error was given in State v. Lynn, 67 Wash.App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992), where the court stated, "Essential to this determination is a plausible showing by the defendant that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." Under Lynn, an alleged error is manifest only if it results in a concrete detriment to the claimant's constitutional rights, and the claimed error rests upon a

plausible argument that is supported by the record. To determine whether a newly claimed constitutional error is supported by a plausible argument, the court must preview the merits of the claimed constitutional error to see if the argument has a likelihood of succeeding. Reading manifest in this way is consistent with *McFarland* 's holding that exceptions to RAP 2.5(a) should be construed narrowly. The policy behind RAP 2.5(a)(3) is simply this: Appellate courts will not waste their judicial resources to render definitive rulings on newly raised constitutional claims when those claims have no chance of succeeding on the merits.

Johnson's excessive fines claim involves a genuine constitutional issue, but the record is insufficiently developed to evaluate its merits. Without a developed record, the claimed error cannot be shown to be manifest, and the error does not satisfy RAP 2.5(a)(3). See Riley, 121 Wash.2d at 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (declining to consider defendant's Fourth Amendment claim because the record was insufficiently developed to consider the claim).

138 Wn.2d at 602-03, 980 P.2d 1261 (emphasis added).

Plaintiff-petitioner has not supplied the court with one document that was considered by the trial court which in any way develops the speculative contentions that are now being advanced in her Petition for Discretionary Review.

Nor has she cited even one authority that supports her due process and equal protection contentions.

The only cases she cites are *Hagar v Reclamation Dist. No. 108*, 111 U.S. 701, 708 4 S.Ct. 663, 28 L.Ed. 569 (1884) and *Hurtado v People of the State of California*, 110 U.S. 516, 4 S.Ct. 111, 28 L.Ed 232 (1884). In

Hagar, the Supreme Court upheld a California statute that imposed a lien on property that was improved by a local reclamation district, over the due process notice complaints of one of the landowners. In Hurtado the Supreme Court upheld a conviction for murder based on an information filed after a magistrate's examination and commitment. The defendant claimed that Due Process required a grand jury for capital crimes, not just an examination and commitment by a magistrate. Neither of these cases has anything to do with the alleged financial or mental/emotional disability condition of a civil litigant.

In her petition she purports to quote *Hagar* at 108, but counsel for defendant-respondent could only find the first two sentences of the quote in *Hagar*. None of the quote was found by the undersigned counsel in *Hurtado*.

What can be found in *Hagar* is the following:

... by 'due process' is meant one which, following the forms of law, is appropriate to the case, and just to the parties to be affected. It must be pursued in the ordinary mode prescribed by the law; it must be adapted to the end to be attained; and wherever it is necessary for the protection of the parties, it must give them an opportunity to be heard respecting the justice of the judgment sought.

111 U.S. at 708.

There is no dispute whatsoever that that prescribed procedure for all motions was followed; that plaintiff-petitioner had sufficient notice and

opportunity to be heard; that the trial judge applied settled law (court rule and appellate decision) and expressed on the record a rational basis for her decision, which, after all, was addressed to her discretion. It is worth noting that this matter is now at its third level of court and at no time has plaintiff-petitioner or any of her lawyers ever provided any court with any fact or citation of authority that would lead a reasonable person to conclude that the motion for summary judgment should not have been granted. The truth is that all parties could spend years and do thousands of dollars of discovery and the outcome of the case would have been the same.

8. Conclusion

In sum, it is respectfully submitted that plaintiff-petitioner's motion for extension of time for filing a petition for discretionary review should be denied. She has made no showing of extraordinary circumstances. The denial of that motion would actually effect justice, not cause a "gross miscarriage of justice.

The Petition for Discretionary Review should be denied because:

(1) the petition for discretionary review raises a new argument that was not presented and adequately developed at the trial court; (2) the petition for discretionary review is not supported by even one citation to applicable authority; (3) the decision of the Court of Appeals is solidly supported by

the well-settled law of this state; and (4) the petition does not meet any of the criteria of RPA 13.4(b).